
 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA PAPERS FOR 
 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Date: Tuesday, 5 October 2021 
 

Time:  6.30 pm 
 

Place:  Council Chamber, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, M32 0TH 

 
 

A G E N D A    Pages  
 

1.  ATTENDANCES   

 
To note attendances, including officers, and any apologies for absence. 

 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 
Members to give notice of any interest and the nature of that interest relating 
to any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

 

 

3.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS   

 
A maximum of 15 minutes will be allocated to public questions submitted in 
writing to Democratic Services (democratic.services@trafford.gov.uk) by 4pm 

on the working day prior to the meeting. Questions must be within the remit of 
the Committee or be relevant to items appearing on the agenda and will be 
submitted in the order in which they were received 

 

 

4.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

 
To receive and, if so determined, to approve as a correct record the minutes 
of the meeting held on 16th March 2021 and on 6th July 2021 

 

1 - 8 

5.  UPDATE ON CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH 

SERVICES (CAMHS)   

 
A presentation will be delivered at the meeting of the Committee by 

representatives of the Royal Manchester Children’s Hospital 
 

 

6.  EARLY YEARS SECTOR, AMBITION PLAN AND SCHOOL READINESS    



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 5 October 2021 

   
 

 

 

Report to follow 
 

7.  TRAFFORD COUNCIL SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND 
DISABILITIES (SEND) PEER CHALLENGE   

 

9 - 86 

8.  DRAFT EXECUTIVE RESPONSE TO THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE TASK AND FINISH GROUP REVIEW 

INTO SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) AND 
SCHOOL EXCLUSIONS   

 

Report to follow 
 

 

9.  URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)   

 
Any other item or items which by reason of:- 

 
(a) Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 

(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
Chairman of the meeting, with the agreement of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee Chairman, is of the opinion should be 

considered at this meeting as a matter of urgency as it relates to a key 
decision; or 

 
(b) special circumstances (to be specified) the Chairman of the meeting is of 

the opinion should be considered at this meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 

10.  EXCLUSION RESOLUTION   

 

Motion   (Which may be amended as Members think fit): 
 

 That the public be excluded from this meeting during consideration of 
the remaining items on the agenda, because of the likelihood of 
disclosure of “exempt information” which falls within one or more 

descriptive category or categories of the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A, as amended by The Local Government (Access to 

Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and specified on the agenda item 
or report relating to each such item respectively. 

 

 

 
 
SARA TODD 

Chief Executive 
 

 
Membership of the Committee 

 
Councillors D. Western (Chair), Mrs. P. Young (Vice-Chair), J. Bennett, 
Miss L. Blackburn, T. Carey, J. Dillon, S. J. Haughey, S. Longden, S. Maitland, A. New, 

A.M. Whyte, D. Acton (ex-Officio) and Dr. K. Barclay (ex-Officio). 
 



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 5 October 2021 

   
 

 

Further Information 

For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 
 

Fabiola Fuschi,  
Tel: 07813 397611 
Email: fabiola.fuschi@trafford.gov.uk  

 
This agenda was issued on 27th Sep 2021 by the Legal and Democratic Services 

Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall; Talbot Road, Stretford, Manchester, M32 
0TH  



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

16 MARCH 2021 
 
PRESENT  

 
Councillor D. Western (in the Chair). 

Councillors T. Carey (Vice-Chair), J. Bennett, J. Dillon, J. Holden, S. Longden, 
A. New, S.B. Procter, D. Acton (ex-Officio) and Dr. K. Barclay (ex-Officio) 
 

 
In attendance 

 
Richard Roe Corporate Director Place 
Karen Samples Director of Education Standards, Quality and Performance 

Sarah Butters Head of Early Years, School Places an Access 
Anna Lomas Strategic Lead Children in Care 

Pamela Wharton Director of Early Help and Children’s Social Care 
 
Also Present 

 
Councillor Hynes Executive Member for Children’s Services 

Councillor Carter Lead Member for Education  
 
 

   
 

 
APOLOGIES 

 

 
11. ATTENDANCES  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Miss L. Blackburn 
 

 
12. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest received 
 

13. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 

There were no public questions received 
 

14. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 4th Feb 2021 be approved as 

a correct record 
 

15. SCHOOL PLACES  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Education Standards, 

Quality and Performance which sought to inform of how the Council coordinated 

Document Pack Page 1



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
16 March 2021 

 
 

 
2 

school place planning with new development. The report also provided additional 

information about the role of strategic planning and a high level overview by 
school place planning area. The Committee had requested additional information 
on this point at its last meeting, when a report on school places had been 

presented.  
 

The report author, the Lead Member for Education, the Corporate Director Place 
and the Head of Early Years, School Places and Access were in attendance to 
present the information and address the questions and comments of the 

Committee.  
 

Officers informed of the key strategic priorities for school places and provided 
examples of how school basic need funding had been utilised to expand 29 
schools, providing additional 3,681 school places for the Borough. Trafford Council 

had been commended by the Department for Education (DfE) for its effective and 
efficient use of basic need funding.   

 
Officers illustrated how the DfE’s methodology to determine the number of 
additional school places needed was different from the local authority’s calculation 

which only considered the number of pupils who resided in the area. This led to a 
significant discrepancy between the figures reported by the DfE and those 

indicated by Trafford Council in its local sufficiency assessment.  
 
Officers informed of how the number of pupils who wanted to attend schools in 

Trafford and who resided out of the area was higher in secondary schools. The 
reason for this higher demand was the selective education system which featured 

in the Borough. Officers also indicated that school places for 2021/22 had been 
provided. Consequently, the Council’s statutory duties had been met. Officers 
noted that the challenge would be to achieve a balance between a sufficient 

numbers of school places and overprovision as places could only be provided in 
multiple of 30.  

 
Officers outlined the role of Strategic Planning and the system in place to process 
planning applications in relation to education contributions. Officers provided data 

on School Place Planning Areas which showed the number and type of schools, 
supply of places and type of places and the pupil yield calculation from the 

Strategic Housing and Land Availability Assessment. This information helped 
officer to estimate future demand for school places.  
 

Members sought clarification on a number of matters such as apparent 
discrepancy between education contribution seen at Planning Committee and 

content of today’s report, efficacy of pupil yield formula and suitability for today’s 
demand, sufficient spaces in primary schools for local pupils during the next five 
academic years and plans for new schools in Sale.  

 
Officers responded that there were many schools in Trafford which had potential 

for expansion. Birth rate in Trafford was declining. The calculation on pupil yield 
was done with reference to new development. The Council focused on protecting 
local pupils but this was complicated where schools were their own admission 

authority. There was only one secondary school in Trafford where the Council was 

Document Pack Page 2



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
16 March 2021 

 
 

 
3 

the admission authority. Since April, the Council had secured £2M in Section 106 

contribution for education and provision for new a school in the Borough. Timing of 
contribution had to be considered as it would be paid at a point during 
development. The Council would look at significant developments ensuring that 

new schools were included in a way that would be coordinated with existing 
provision.   

 
RESOLVED that the content of the report be noted.  

 

 
16. ADOPTION AND FOSTERING  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead Children in Care which 
informed of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on foster care in Trafford.  

 
The report author, the Director of Early Help and Children’s Social Care and the 

Executive Member for Children’s Services were in attendance to present the 
information and address questions and comments of the Committee.   
 

Officers explained how hard had been for foster parents as well as other families, 
to meet the additional requirements linked to the pandemic and to continue to 

support children and young people in their care. The Committee joined officers in 
thanking foster families for their continuous dedication and support.  
 

Officers informed of the figures concerning fostering households in Trafford and 
how they had been supported during this challenging period via three main 

strategies looking at listening, informing and peer support. Through means such 
as newsletters, social media and training support group, officers had ensured that 
the challenges posed to the emotional health of children and their foster families 

were addressed through a therapeutic training response. A multi-agency response 
was also in place to meet the needs for practical support.  

 
Officers informed of the additional help provided to those foster carers who were 
particularly vulnerable and a risk assessment tool had been used to identify them.  

 
Members sought and received clarification on matters such as exit interview for 

carers who wished to end their role, the importance of peer support and mentoring 
to build fostering communities. Members learned that the service was working 
hard to develop this support scheme for foster carers. Members also asked that 

foster carer representatives be invited at a future meeting of the Committee to 
listen to their views and experiences on related matters.  

 
The Executive Member for Children’s Services informed that a listening exercise 
to better support foster carers and modernise the service was ongoing. This was a 

piece of work shared across Greater Manchester. Input and feedback from ex 
foster carers would form part of the service review.  

 
RESOLVED: -  

1. That the report be noted; 

Document Pack Page 3



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
16 March 2021 

 
 

 
4 

2. That the foster carer representatives be invited to join a future meeting of 

the Committee to learn about their view and experiences on related 
matters.  

 
17. REPORT OF THE TASK AND FINISH GROUP ON SEND AND SCHOOL 

EXCLUSION  

 
The Committee received a report of the Task and Finish Group on Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and School Exclusion.  

 
The Chair of the Committee who also chaired the Task and Finish Group 

presented the recommendations. The Executive Member for Children’s Services 
thanked the Committee for the work undertaken on this matter and was keen to 
work through the content of the report and its recommendations. The report would 

be presented at the next meeting of the Executive in June 2021.  
 

The Chair of the Committee thanked Members and Officers for their work and 
contribution on this issue.  
 
RESOLVED: -  

1. That the content of the report be noted; 

2. That the recommendations be endorsed; 
3. That the report be sent to the Executive for a response.  

 
18. URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY) 

 

There were no matters of urgent business received.  
 

19. EXCLUSION RESOLUTION 

 

None 

 
The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and finished at 7.33 pm 

Document Pack Page 4



 

 
1 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

6 JULY 2021 
 
PRESENT  

 
Councillor D. Western (in the Chair). 

Councillors Mrs. P. Young (Vice-Chair), J. Bennett, Miss L. Blackburn, J. Dillon, 
S. J. Haughey, S. Longden, A. New, A.M. Whyte and Dr. K. Barclay (ex-Officio) 
 

 
In attendance 

 
Jill McGregor Corporate Director of Children's Services 
John Addison Governance Manager 

Naomi Kelso Principal Solicitor 
Karen Samples Director of Education Standards, Quality and Performance 

Zoe Sweeny Early Years Service Manager 
Pamela Wharton  Director of Early Help and Children’s Social Care 
Fabiola Fuschi Governance Officer 

 
Also Present 

 
Councillor Hynes, Executive Member for Children’s Services 
Councillor Carter, Lead Member for Education  

 
 

1. ATTENDANCES  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Acton, Carey and Maitland.  

 
2. MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  

 
RESOLVED that the membership of the Committee, including the appointment of 

Chairman and Vice-Chairman, as agreed at Annual Council on 26th May 2021 be 

noted.  
 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE  

 
RESOLVED that the terms of reference of the Committee as agreed at Annual 

Council on 26th May 2021 be noted.  
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest received.  

 
5. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 
There were no public questions received.  
 

6. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 

Document Pack Page 5



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
6 July 2021 

 
 

 
2 

The Committee was minded to approve as a correct record the minutes of the 

meeting held on 16th March 2021 
 

7. UPDATE ON OFSTED REPORT MAY 2019 - INSPECTION OF CHILDREN'S 

SOCIAL CARE SERVICES  

 

The Committee received a presentation of the Corporate Director of Children’s 
Services on the latest developments on the Improvement Journey: the plan to 
improve Children’s Services in Trafford, following the Ofsted inspection in March 

2019.  
 

The Senior Officer as well as the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services were in 
attendance to present the update and answer the questions of the Committee.  
 

Officers outlined the improvement journey so far and the most recent areas of 
focus. They also informed of the latest visit of the Ofsted in March 2021, the recent 

review of the Department for Education (DfE) in May 2021 and the feedback 
received.  
 

Officers informed Members of the positive outcomes achieved so far such as the 
Ofsted recognition of the strengthened front door access services and children 

being seen regularly through the pandemic. Officers also illustrated the areas for 
improvements, such as the instability in the workforce, and the measures in place 
to address this issue such as the strategy to retain social workers and the 

recruiting campaign which would be launched this month.  
 

Members sought and received clarification on a number of matters such as the 
scope of the focus visit. Officers informed that the focus visit had been carried out 
to determine how well the services had managed during the pandemic.  

 
With regards to the recent Ofsted focus visit, Members asked about practice on 

decision making and the evaluation of information available to stop repeat 
requests for help and delay before receiving the right service. Officers informed 
that a strong focus on access services had led to a significant reduction of re-

referral rate from 30% to 19%. Officers added that the Child Impact Chronology 
programme had gone live. This programme supported the understanding of the 

impact of an event on a child, to inform the quality of assessment and the action 
plan.  
 

Members expressed concern with regard to the high number of agency staff 
utilised in the service and asked whether, with regard to overall staff turnover, exit 

interviews were being conducted. Officers confirmed that exit interviews were 
standard practice. Officers reassured the Committee that workforce stability was 
one of the key priorities. The Council adopted an Investing in People Strategy and 

work was ongoing to increase the number of permanent members of staff: six front 
line practitioners had been appointed, three student social workers had confirmed 

that they intended to remain in Trafford and six more social workers had been 
shortlisted. In addition to this, sessions were conducted to encourage staff agency 
to permanently join Trafford.  

 

Document Pack Page 6



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
6 July 2021 

 
 

 
3 

Members asked about the feedback provided by care leavers with regard to 

access to health and wellbeing services and how the Ofsted would assess 
progress and effectiveness of change. Officers informed the Committee that the 
redesign of Children’s Services had been presented to the Forum on Care for 

Children. One of the presentations was on the Child Journey Meeting where 
partner agencies would get together to look at the child’s experience in light of the 

No Wrong Door methodology. With regards to progress against the Ofsted’s 
recommendation, another visit would take place in October 2021 to look at Help 
and Protection services and the annual conversation would take place in January 

2022, to agree the areas for inspection in spring.  
 

Members sought clarification about what action was being taken to understand 
and address the variable quality of service provision. Officers informed the 
Committee that, although the increase in service demand and the challenges 

associated with a service redesign, in April, May and June, a good number of 
audits had been completed. Lunch and Learn sessions had been delivered to 

address particular issues and packages of support had been put in place. One of 
the outcome of the service redesign would be that practice managers would have 
the wholesale responsibility for the quality of practice within the team and training 

course to support them in this roles had been put in place.  
 
RESOLVED that the content of the report be noted and a further update be 

presented at the next meeting of the Committee.  
 

 
 

8. SCHOOL READINESS UPDATE  

 
The Committee considered a progress report of the Director of Education 

Standards, Quality and Performance on school readiness, including the impact of 
Covid-19 and strategies in place to support school readiness.  

 
The report author attended the meeting accompanied by the Early Years Service 
Manager, the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services and the Lead Member for 

Education.  
 

Officers informed the Committee that Trafford had a strong Early Years sector with 
a very high quality provision. The majority of children achieved a good level of 
development which was above national average. Targeted work had taken place 

in some areas of the Borough where children were performing below the national 
average in the three prime areas of learning. Officers outlined the strategies in 

place to support school readiness.  
 
The Committee sought and received clarification on birth rates in Trafford and how 

these affected the provision of school places. Officers explained that the Council 
planned for school places and considered different data sets. Officers added that 

local authorities across Greater Manchester worked together through a social 
media communication campaign to remind parents to apply for school places. 
Although there was a national decline in birth rates, Trafford, because of its 

buoyant Early Years offer, was not directly affected by this issue.  

Document Pack Page 7



Children and Young People's Scrutiny Committee  
6 July 2021 

 
 

 
4 

 

Members asked about how schools were supporting children and families with the 
anxiety caused by Covid-19 pandemic and managing the risk of sending their 
children to school. Officers informed the Committee of the multi-agency work to 

support families throughout this period. Many different services such as the 
Behaviour and Attendance Support Team worked together to increase family 

confidence and supported schools to get the right message to the community. 
However, compared to other Greater Manchester authorities, in Trafford, school 
attendance stayed high and remained high.  

 
RESOLVED that the content of the report be noted.  

 
9. DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22  

 

The Committee looked at the draft work programme for 2021/22 and discussed 
some matters which might be reviewed during this municipal year: 

 To receive a regular update on Children’s Services Improvement Journey 
following the Ofsted inspection in 2019; 

 To receive the response of the Executive on the Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities Task and Finish Groups; 

 The impact of Covid-19 on Early Years Foundation;  

 The impact of Covid-19 on Looked After Children; 

 Task and Finish Group on Children and Adolescents Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS); 
 

10. URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)  

 
There were no items of urgent business received.  

 
 

 
The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and finished at 8.00 pm 

Document Pack Page 8



TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
Report to:  Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee  
Date:    September 2021 
Report for:   Information 
Report of:  Director of Education, Standards, Performance and 

Quality Assurance 
  

Report Title 
 

Trafford Council Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Peer Challenge 

 
Summary 

 

Between 25th-28th May 2021, Trafford Council commissioned the Local Government 
Association to carry out a SEND Peer Challenge.  This report details the feedback 
received and future planning activity. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

 

That the contents of the report are noted. 

 
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 

 
Name: Karen Samples: Director of Education, Standards, Quality and Performance 
Extension: 

 
1.  Introduction 

Trafford’s Local Area SEND Inspection last took place in 2017 and the outcome of this visit 
did not result in a written statement of action.  From April 2021, Ofsted were due to revisit 
areas where they had significant concerns about SEND provision from when they were last 
inspected following a pause in the process due to Covid.  Plans to restart full area SEND 
inspections are under review and these visits will be to areas that have not yet been 
inspected under the current framework.  

As a significant amount of time has passed since our last inspection, the Trafford Strategic 
SEND Partnership commissioned an external review of Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) by the Local Government Association. The purpose of this peer 
challenge was for a mirror to be held up at the local area in order to gain validation of our 
strengths and be supported with our areas for improvement. 

Inclusion Services within Education have also experienced a period of change in leadership 
with the resignation of the previous Principal Educational Psychologist due to relocation and 
the establishment of interim positions to backfill this post.  The review was to provide a 
helpful benchmark not only for all the partners across Education, Health and Social Care, but 
importantly for the new Inclusion Managers. 

The Peer Challenge focused on a number of lines of enquiry, some of which were 
deliberately chosen by Trafford partners as they are priority areas on the SEND Ambitions 
Plan and require improvement.  These are shown in bold as follows: 

Document Pack Page 9



 Leadership and governance of SEND across the local area 

 Capacity and resources (including finance) 

 The identification of children and young people who have SEND 

 Assessing and meeting the needs of children and young people who have SEND 

 Improving outcomes for children and young people who have SEND 

 Response to COVID-19 

 Quality of the SEND experience for children, young people, parents and carers 

 Transition arrangements (particularly around Preparing for Adulthood) 

 The Voice of the Child 

A review of a random selection of Education, Health and Care Plans were also audited by a 
separate team. 

The peer team, made up of 5 LGA Associates, reviewed a range of documents and 
information ahead of the review, and then delivered 4 days of virtual field work during which 
they: 

 Spoke to a range of council officers, Lead Members, headteachers, SENCOs, 

external partners, young people, parents and carers 

 Gathered information and views from more than 30 meetings 

 Provided daily feedback and a final report 

2.  Trafford’s Local Area SEND Ambitions 

Following a SEND Visioning Day held in partnership with Trafford Parent/Carers Forum, the 

vision and priorities were agreed.  In essence, our ambitions are quite simply focused on 

ensuring our children/young people and their families get the right support from all partners 

so that they achieve well and are happy and safe.  These are: 

1.  To promote co-production at the heart of professional practice so that the voice of 

children, young people and their families is at the heart of all we do. 

2.  Build stakeholder confidence by delivering timely information, advice and support 

and a high quality statutory assessment process which meets timescales and 

ensures that children and young people with SEND, and their parents and carers, are 

considered at every stage of the process. 

3.  Develop the quality and capacity of early years providers, schools and colleges to 

meet the needs of local families and their children with SEND.   

4.  Deliver greater local integration and co-ordination of education, health and social 

care services and plans for children and families to promote positive and seamless 

transitions at all stages between the ages of 0-25 years. 

5.  Develop outcome-focused approaches to joint commissioning and integrated 

working to promote early identification and intervention. 

6.  Maintain strong outcomes for Trafford SEND pupils, so that they achieve 

outcomes which are above national expectations for similar pupils and where 

possible, prevent school exclusions. 

Document Pack Page 10



We are also committed to ensure the voice of the child is the golden thread running through 

each and every one of the ambitions so that our young people feel that they have helped to 

shape and influence the Trafford SEND experience. 

These ambitions were tested throughout the Peer Challenge process to ensure they were 

the right priorities for the Local Area and could be updated on the basis of the findings of the 

review. 

3.  The findings of the Peer Challenge 
 
The complete findings can be found in Appendix 1, which reflects both the strengths and 
areas for improvement.  For the purpose of this report, the priorities have been highlighted 
with a progress update. 
 
Priority 1: Galvanise the SEND Partnership Board to oversee the prompt translation of 
current ambitions and action plans into tangible impacts which make a difference for 
children and families. 
Trafford’s Strategy for SEND has been recently reviewed and updated following consultation 
with all partners and aligns to the Trafford Corporate Plan.  
Performance is overseen and monitored by the Start Well Board and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The Strategic SEND partnership has always had strong multi-agency 
membership from health, education, social care and parents/carers. This has enabled the 
group to maintain an overview to the holistic needs of children, young people and their 
families. There is a shared ethos and determination to improve the lives of children, young 
people and their families, supported by close joint working across agencies. 
Trafford Parent Carer Forum are key members of the partnership, representing a wide range 
of parent groups, and are grounding the work of the partnership with the challenge of what 
will work for families. 
Elected Members are represented on the Strategic SEND Board and take a keen interest 
and continue to scrutinise performance. 
The SEND service structure is stable and this has enabled the strategic leads to focus 
attention on developing work to support achieving positive outcomes under the 6 key 
priorities in the SEND action plan. The SEND board has continued to meet throughout the 
Covid pandemic. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 An experienced independent Chair is being sought to oversee the SEND Strategic 
Board 

 Membership has been strengthened to include the Director of Children’s Services, 
the Director of Adults Services and the Children’s Finance Manager 

 A SEND Steering Group has been established to be the delivery board for the 
Trafford Strategic SEND Partnership Board’s Ambition Plan.  It’s core purpose is to 
bring together and align the workstreams, so they are working at the same pace to 
deliver the required improvements as highlighted in the SEND Peer Challenge and 
following the last SEND Inspection of 2017 

 A review of the agreed Ambitions has taken place to ensure they are still relevant 
following the Peer Challenge and all priorities are required to be included within the 
existing action plan. 

 Ambition Leads are required to ensure the work-streams are managed within the 
agreed action plans and monitored by appropriate metrics/measurable benefits and 
outcomes and provide the Strategic Board and the Start Well Board, the assurance 
of progress being made. 

 

Document Pack Page 11



Priority 2: Use the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) (Appendix 2) to ensure 
the medium and long-term revenue and capital programmes are directly responsive to 
changing and emerging needs to achieve the ambition of children with SEND living, 
learning and growing up closer to home. 
A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a review of the current and future health and 
social care needs of a defined community. Trafford has produced a JSNA for its population 
aged 0 to 25 living with Special Educational Needs and Disability which also includes 
recommendations which will help us to know our population well and plan services based on 
the needs we have identified.  This is a live document as we know the needs of our children 
and young people continue to change. 
We recognise that commissioning for children in Trafford happens across several different 
services; however the commissioning board brings together this activity so that we can make 
sensible decisions about services or pathways that are commissioned or re-designed with all 
the key stakeholders around one table. The commissioners of children’s services are 
Trafford Council Clinical Commissioning Team, Trafford Council Public Health Team, 
Trafford Council SENAS Service, Trafford CCG and Trafford Council Early Help Team. 
We also have an arrangement in place where our CCG commissioners are located in the All 
Age Commissioning Service, sat alongside our social care commissioners. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 Trafford is working with the Council for Disabled Children to construct a clear 
Commissioning Strategy and there will be clear partnership engagement to ensure 
this is co-produced and fit for purpose.  The proposed actions are: 

 Hold a stakeholder workshop event to consider the findings in the JSNA and 
co-produce a set of key commissioning priorities that we will focus on for the 
next 2 years that is also linked to a Commissioning Outcomes Framework.  

 Develop a comprehensive delivery plan for each priority to be owned across a 
number of partners. 

 Finance officers are now represented on the SEND Strategic Board to enable a clear 
line of sight around the effective planning of provision and the management of the 
High Needs Budget.  A High-Needs Sub-Group which includes a range of officers, 
headteachers and Trafford Parent/Carer Forum are charged with ensuring there is a 
clear action plan in place to manage the High Needs budget whilst meeting the 
needs of our children and young people effectively and will report to Funding Forum 
and the Corporate Leadership team. 

 
Priority 3: Seize the opportunity for the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) and 
Designated Social Care Officer (DSCO) to work together to provide a system overview 
of quality, effectiveness and impact to strategic leaders 
The role of the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) has been filled on an interim basis, 
although agreement has been reached to recruit on a permanent basis and the role of the 
Designated Social Care Officer will complete the strategic picture to ensure that the 
commissioning view across the three domains of education, health and social care. 
Trafford has recently appointed an interim DSCO who is supporting the Complex Needs and 
Short Breaks team.  This is a new post and we made a deliberate decision to recruit to this 
post prior to the Peer Challenge.  The Designated Social Care Officer will work with 
colleagues in adult and children’s social care to ensure they meet their statutory duties for 
children and young people with SEND aged 0-25.  
  
Actions/Next Steps 

 Both the DCO and DSCO attend the Strategic Board to provide the necessary 
assurances and input to drive forward the improvements from all partners across the 
SEND system.  They also attend all SEND panels to input into decision-making 
processes linked to EHC plans and the Transition Board. 

Document Pack Page 12



 We are committed to ensuring not only the timeliness of the issuing of EHC plans, 
but most importantly the quality of plans.  The DCO and DSCO will be pivotal to 
improving the quality of input into Education, Health and Care plans and will work 
with partners to provide training, support and challenge as part of our quality 
assurance framework. 

 
Priority 4:  Sharpen the focus across the local area, on the risks and opportunities 
with organisational change relating to the implementation of an integrated care 
system (ICS) to ensure that the resources for Trafford meet the needs of children and 
young people with SEND. 
In Trafford we have developed the Trafford Together Locality Plan which is our blueprint for 
the transformation of health and social care over the next 5 years (2019 to 2024).  The plan 
describes an ambitious new way of working in Trafford working to the principles of 
Population, Place, People and Partnerships. There are 6 areas of system reform described 
in the plan, including Children.  The plan is over seen by the One System Board which will 
lead the integration to the new Integrated Care System as laid out in the new white paper.  
Working together to improve health and social care for all, the plan is currently being 
refreshed in light of the experiences over the past 15 months, and we are working through 
what this means for SEND services, especially with the changes to CCGs from 1st April 
2022. 
Our current governance is as follows: 

Children's Recovery and Reform Roadmap

Governance for Children’s Services

Trafford Partnership

Health and Wellbeing Board

Start 

Well

Local Care Alliance (in 

the future – One System 

Board)

Improvement 

Board

Trafford 

Strategic 

Safeguarding 

Partnership

H&SC  R&R 

Board
Education 

Board

Commissioning Board

SEND 

Strategic 

Board

Early 

Help 

Board

0 to 5 

Strategic 

Board

Improvement 

Plan - 8 x 

Ambitions

“Our children are kept safe”“Our Children have a fair start in life”

Health 

Board*

Strategic Design 

Groups:
Living Well in My Community

Living Well At Home / Step 

closer to home

Short Stay in Hospital

 
We recognise the need to ensure that there are clear links between the different 
programmes of work. 
The health board is one forum to enable discussion on all children’s health matters. We 
understand that good commissioning starts with a good understanding of the SEND children 
in Trafford.  The JSNA provides an important review of the current and future health and 
social care needs. 
 
Priority 5:  Accelerate the review of the Trafford Autism and Social Communication 
(TASC) Pathway to ensure less obvious needs are recognised and met 
Both the ADHD (Trafford Combined ADHD Assessment Service) TCAS pathway and Autism 
Social Communication (TASC) pathway have been developed in line with the THRIVE model 
and graduated approach. These pathways involve jointly commissioned assessment work 

Document Pack Page 13



from Psychology (Clinical and Educational), Speech and Language therapists, Community 
Paediatricians. The Trafford Autism and Social Communication Pathway (TASC) was co-
produced with Trafford Parent Carer Forum, revised and relaunched in September 2019 to 
include explicit links to the graduated approach. 
Using the graduated approach has enabled school staff to ensure that children and young 
people identified as having needs in this area would receive appropriate interventions at the 
earliest opportunity, rather than waiting for a diagnosis. As a result the waiting list times for 
assessments were greatly reduced and by March 2020 all assessments were being 
completed within NICE guideline timescales. Covid has impacted significantly on this 
progress and although the assessment pathway has been stepped back up there is an 
urgent need to reduce waiting times again. The CCG continues to commission in a multi 
professional way to ensure that these assessments result in a clinically safe diagnostic 
conclusion. Following discussion via the TASC pathway steering group it has been agreed 
that a separate steering group will be convened to consider the alignment of both the ADHD 
pathway delivered through Trafford Combined Assessment Service (TCAS) and the TASC 
pathway.  We recognise that the experience of children and families who require a joint 
referral to both pathways could be improved and therefore a number options including a joint 
pathway or fast track option will be considered by the steering group. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 The next Strategic SEND Board in October is carrying out a deep-dive into the TASC 
pathway to ensure there is a clear understanding of the needs of our children and 
young people and their families. 

 Both the TASC and TCAS pathways are being reviewed in conjunction as there are 
many inter-dependencies between the pathways and we have evidence from 
SENCOs that in some cases the same child will be referred into both or will be 
referred into one and then require referral into the other. 

 The review has 3 parts which are being delivered via a series of task and finish 
groups, these are: 

 Referral process 
 Pre & post diagnostic support 
 Resource  

The membership of the task and finish groups includes support from across the 
partnership including parents/carers and the voluntary sector. 

 
Priority 6:  Agree and implement a system of capturing good practice and ensuring 
the “child is in the room” across all agencies and within all meetings, decision-
making and records 
In May, Trafford hosted a ‘Let’s Talk SEND’ conference.  The conference covered a range of 
topics including Sign language sing-a-long and lesson, barriers to learning session, 
environment session, design a dream park activity, some short video testimonials, sexism 
session, mental health session and guided meditation.  These topics were picked following 
last year’s ‘make your mark’ (a youth voting system to discover the current worries of the 
young people).  The session was planned based on the feedback from the young people last 
year and conversations with young people who are SEND or their parents and carers.  The 
young people who make up Trafford Youth Cabinet have been involved at every level of 
planning. 
 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 As a result of the review of the EHC Plans, the reports produced by the Educational 
Psychology service are written in a child-centred way and the involvement of 
children/young people in their reviews has increased as a result of working in a 
virtual way.   This will be considered as an offer going forward in order to both 

Document Pack Page 14



maximise engagement and improve the quality of the views and aspirations of the 
young person as detailed in their plan. 

 A key feature of the of the SEND Quality Assurance Framework will focus on the 
sharing of good practice. 

 The SEND Communication & Engagement Group assists in leading on Ambition 1 of 
the strategic plan which is focused on co-production.  One of the priorities for this 
group is the development of SEND young person engagement so they have a voice 
in shaping our SEND local offer.  Two young people have been recruited as part of 
our Kickstart placements in the council and are leading on the development of a 
Trafford Participation Strategy and Action Plan to improve the engagement of our 
young people. 

 A Trafford Co-Production Guide has been drafted for sign-off at the next SEND 
Board with a view to piloting a coproduction monitoring template to capture learning 
and producing an annual report to be shared with partners. 

 Building on parent/carer engagement to consider how feedback and lived experience 
is systematically captured and responded to will be developed after Christmas 
through the communication and engagement group. 

 
Priority 7:  Involve parents and carers in the decisions about post-Covid service 
design and delivery to ensure that it meets their needs 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 Through the work of the Council for Disabled Children, parental views will be sought 
through active participation in the stakeholder workshop. 

 Trafford Parent/Carer Forum are represented on all working groups and feedback on 
the views of families is a regular item at SEND Board.  Deep-dives will also allow for 
the voice of families and young people in a more robust way. 

 A Parental Participation at SEND Panels workshop is being planned for the autumn 
term to ensure that learning from what is working well and how improvements should 
be made, influence future service delivery. 

 Trafford SEND Information Advice and Support Service (SENDIASS) are 
represented on the strategic board and provide reports on activity that is coming into 
the service.  This is important information to ensure partners are aware of thematic 
concerns and provide insight into how improvements can be made. 

 From January 2022, the Communication and Engagement Group are focusing on 
parent carer engagement and considering how feedback and lived experience is 
systematically captured and responded to.  This includes: 

 Exploring options for setting up thematic parent carer panels 
 Coproduced annual ‘Let’s Talk SEND’ conference for parent carers 
 Identify video content opportunities to promote access to specific services 

and where to go for help 
 Annual calendar of events co-produced and published by Trafford 

Parent/Carer Forum (TPF) 
 
Priority 8:  Establish a key worker/single point of contact and support for parents and 
carers to navigate the SEND system on behalf of their child 
The first purpose of the SEND Local Offer is to provide clear, comprehensive, accessible 
and up-to-date information about the available provision and how to access it and evidence 
indicates this is being delivered well.  In the 2019 Mott McDonald analysis of Trafford’s Local 
Offer, the online resource was found to be easily accessible with comprehensive information 
on needs assessments, what to expect from the graduated approach and how to access 
disagreement resolution services. There is a clear feedback process and a published “you 
said we did” page. The organisation of the Local Offer web content into areas for parents, 
practitioners and young people tailoring the information according to user needs was also 
highlighted as best practice. 

Document Pack Page 15



We offer a programme of professional engagement to support Education, Health and Social 
Care teams to use the SEND Local Offer. This includes training sessions delivered by the 
Family Information Service and SENDIASS outreach service on how to get the best out of 
the functions available to confidently support families navigate the website 
The Stronger Together Empowering Parents (STEP) programme has been developed by 
Trafford Parent Forum to provide emotional and practical support to parent carers. A team of 
volunteers support families to use the Local Offer and their lived experience is used to 
contribute feedback through the forum. 
The SEND Local Offer Advisor (SLOA) who works closely with families to help them ensure 
their needs are being met also reports directly into the SEND Communication and 
Engagement Group. 
The Link newsletter is published every six weeks and distributed to over 700 SEND families 
and professionals working with them. Social media is used extensively to connect, network 
and share services, events and information and as a further channel for feedback and 
engagement.  The Outreach team would normally attend SEND groups and events to talk to 
families and young people about the Local Offer however this activity has been minimal this 
year due to the pandemic. The team have attended virtual groups and continued to support 
SEND families by researching and developing a targeted, SEND specific Coronavirus 
support offer. The Outreach team has continued to attend Trafford Parent Forum drop-in 
sessions/SEND surgeries and professional meetings such as SENCO forums. 
Services such as the Sensory Impairment Support Service and SEN Advisory Service in the 
early years provide parents with a key worker approach from an early age and works 
alongside the SENCO if they are in a setting. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 As stated above, the Communication and Engagement Group continue to prioritise 
the shaping of the Local Offer.  From the last survey carried out by TPF, there had 
been a significant improvement expressed by parents, in the accessibility of the Local 
Offer and our data reports high numbers of people using the website.   

 Regular termly SENCO forums take place throughout the borough, and attendance is 
strong.  Through the co-produced Trafford Inclusion Charter (Appendix 3) and the 
forums, SENCOs and school leaders, are being asked to be the champions of 
inclusive practice in their schools and be the named support for parents and their 
family. 

 
Priority 9:  Communicate clearly with children and families describing the provision 
and transition support available to them 0-25+ 
Priority 10:  Develop and employability pathway for those with less obvious needs 
and those with high functioning ASC where traditional supported internships are not 
appropriate 
The SEN Advisory Service play a pivotal role in supporting children transitioning from 
nursery to Reception and remain involved with their cases until the end of the autumn term 
after a child has started school. This is to help ensure a smooth transition and promote 
consistency in the strategies and interventions being used across nursery and school.   
A SEND specific ‘Welcome back’ guidance document for the Early Years sector was 
developed by the LA to support children with SEND in line with new operating guidance. This 
was identified as good practice and shared via the North West Early Years SEND Action 
Learning Set.  A multi-agency Trafford Transition COVID Guide was produced for Summer 
2020 for all children in the early years. This contained information about how to support 
effective transition for children with SEND along with how to support children’s social and 
emotional well-being, speech, language and communication to ensure consistency of 
approach across the borough. 
The Sensory Impairment Support Service and SEN Advisory Service also provide advice 
and guidance to educational settings at other key points of transition; specific ideas for Year 
6 to Year 7 are shared with SENCOs, including the writing of Preparing for Adulthood 

Document Pack Page 16



outcomes for EHC plans and the Sensory Impairment team support young people directly 
when transitioning to Post 16 education.  
 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 Transition within and beyond the Early Years is a strength in Trafford and the 0-5 
Strategic Board are committed to ensuring that we improve outcomes for children 
with SEND  and ensure the right support for children with ASC is available 

 Trafford’s Early Years sector has recruited a number of SENCOs who have gained 
the nationally accredited award for SEND.  

 A new Early Years provision map template and accompanying guidance materials 
have been drafted to be launched in October. The aim is to provide improved support 
for settings in planning effective, challenging and realistic targets and outcomes for 
children with the most complex needs, and to provide the LA with data to 
demonstrate service impact.   

 A new Specialist Teaching Assistant with a particularly high level of expertise and 

experience with children with ASC, has been appointed to a vacancy within the SEN 

Advisory Service and will provide valuable support to both the sector and 

parent/carers. 

All children and young people, including those who have SEN Support needs and those who 
have an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) should have clear pathways to adulthood. 
Therefore, annual reviews and the “assess, plan, do”, review approach needs to consider 
medium and long-term outcomes for all.  Children and young people must be included in 
discussions, actions and outcomes right from the beginning and through to the end. Their 
voice is paramount throughout the process of preparation for adulthood. 
Trafford’s revised Preparing for Adulthood (PfA) protocol sets out the LA’s commitment to 
supporting those young people who may have the need for additional care and support in 
adulthood. It reflects Trafford’s approach to multi-agency practice across the areas of 
Education Health and Social Care and describes how all the agencies will fulfil their duties 
and responsibilities under current legislation and guidance relating to transition.   
The PfA protocol lays out arrangements for a an embedded PfA database within Liquid Logic 
that allows the local authority and partner agencies to track individual young people through 
their PfA journey or to recognise them as cohort along a Complex Needs pathway, 
Neighbourhood Pathways and Independence Pathways. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 Preparing for Adulthood (PfA) continues to be a priority for Trafford and the 
Transitions Board has refreshed its terms of reference and membership and is 
chaired by the CCG.  This board will focus on ensuring the existing PfA protocol 
which is an operational guide for professionals, is published in a parent-friendly 
toolkit of support.   

 The board will also provide scrutiny for case studies to provide “lessons learned” 
which will be shared with the Strategic Board. 

 Establish a robust performance report against the PfA landmarks 
 Develop further co-production work with Trafford Parent Forum on the type/format of 

information that young people and parents would find useful to help then effectively 
navigate the journey from children’s to adults’ services. This will inform the 
development of an agreed rolling schedule of information events available to young 
people and their families 

 Roll out of online training to all professionals 
 Create ways of ensuring that the young person’s voice is heard though developing 

self and citizen advocacy approaches and utilising “Living my Best Life” assessment 
tools and planning.  This will in turn enable the identification of barriers to achieving 

Document Pack Page 17



the individual’s full potential and the prioritisation of work outside the traditional 
commissioning of services to facilitate inclusion and integration in the local 
community and communities of interest. 

 
 

Priority 11:  Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) 
a. Establish and embed single and multi-agency audits to improve the quality 

of EHCPs, using the findings of the EHCP review (Appendix 2) as a starting 
point 

b. Ensure the social care needs are recorded in EHCPs including Short 
Breaks provision 

c. Identify and overcome barriers in IT systems to enable effective information 
sharing between professionals at both a strategic and operational level 

 
Trafford has experienced a sharp increase in the demands for Education Health and Care 
assessments (EHCNA). Over the last five years, demand for these services has risen 57% 
from 1400 statements and plans in 2014 to being responsible for over 2200 now.  Similarly, 
requests for EHC Needs Assessments have also increased by over 30%. We recognise that 
this is a national picture but understanding the local drivers behind this increasing need has 
been an important focus for the LA.   
All Inclusion services have quality assurance as a key area of work in service developments 
plans.  These include working with local partners from other boroughs to review the quality 
and content of our EHCPs and our Educational Psychology service has undertaken an 
assurance review of the service using the Quality Standards for Educational Psychology 
Services.  In addition, there are well developed processes in place in the Sensory 
Impairment Service, using the Quality Standards for Sensory Services.  This particular 
service was spoken highly of in the Local Area Peer Challenge, both by parent/carers and 
the young people themselves and partners from across the system are keen to learn from 
this.   
SEND operational managers meet on a termly basis to review quality assurance processes 
and report on key performance indicators.   
Prior to the issue of all EHC plans they are peer reviewed focusing on: 

 Does the EHC plan follow the ‘golden thread’?  

 Do you get a good sense of the young person when reading it? Is it compliant with 
the law?  

Plans are issued following quality assurance processes are complete.  The team also holds 
regular internal plan training and moderation sessions with the aim of improving overall 
knowledge of EHC plans.  Trafford’s SENCOs receive training on “Person-Centred Plans” 
based on the work of Helen Sanderson. 
 
Health professionals were hampered throughout the pandemic as a result of not being able 
to access systems remotely which impacted on the information that was submitted for EHC 
plans.  
 
Actions/Next Steps 
Inclusion officers are working with the Strategic Lead for Practice Improvement & Learning in 
Children’s Social Care to develop a robust Quality Assurance Framework which is shared 
and understood by all partners.  This will include: 

 A robust system to enable a quality assurance of the health and social care advice 

that comes into the LA as part of the EHC Needs Assessments 

 Clearly defined criteria of “what a good plan looks like” 
 Ensuring health and social care outcomes are fully integrated into each individual 

plan with smart and specific outcomes  

Document Pack Page 18



 Implementation of a quarterly anonymised audit which is completed by a multi-
disciplinary team approach, including representation from Trafford’s Parent Carer 
forum 

 The Annual Review process is also being scrutinised as part of Ambition 2 to ensure 
systems are robust and the voice of all partners feed into the process 

 
Priority 12:  Ensure key health metrics are regularly reported to the SEND Partnership 
Board 
Health data is not regularly reported to the SEND Board, due in part to the recent change of 
provider to Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust.  There are a range of datasets 
that are used to report performance from other partners including children/young people 
outcomes through the Local Government Inform and EHC timeliness. Health performance 
reports are required at every SEND Board with the first report being shared at the October 
meeting. 
 
Actions/Next Steps 

 A data dashboard is being produced with support from the performance team to bring 
all indicators into one place.  This will include indicators from across education, 
health and social care for 0-25 years. 

 A deep-dive of the dashboard is taking place at the October SEND Board, in order to 
ensure partners are sighted on outcomes and any gaps are identified. 

 Regular performance reports will be shared at each strategic board from all partners 
and clear metrics inserted into the Strategic Plan. 

 
Conclusion 
Whilst the Peer Review was a robust and challenging process, all partners from across the 
local area welcomed the findings and share a determination to ensure these are enacted 
with pace and rigour. 
It was pleasing to note the passion and commitment at all levels across the partnership to 
improve outcomes and the sense of strategic ambition which help to create the conditions for 
success in implementing the necessary improvements.   
 
APPENDIX 1: LGA PEER CHALLENGE FINAL REPORT 
APPENDIX 2: SEND JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
APPENDIX 3: INCLUSION CHARTER 
 
 

Document Pack Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Trafford Council 

Remote SEND Peer Diagnostic 

 

 

25th – 28th May 2021 

 

www.local.gov.uk 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 21



SEND Remote Peer Diagnostic 

 Programme for today 

 

Presentation of findings 

– Strengths 

– Areas for further consideration 

– Recommendations 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 22



The Peer Team 

• Lead Peer – Rose Durban, LGA Associate 

• Education Peer – George Gilmore, LGA Associate 

• Health Peer – Linda Williams, LGA Associate 

• Local Authority Peer – Jackie Lown, LGA Associate 

• Peer Challenge Manager – Jill Scarr, LGA Programme 
Manager, Children’s Services 

• EHCP Reviewer – Richard Holland, LGA Associate 

• EHCP Reviewer – Tracey Newcomb, LGA Associate  

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 23



Peer Diagnostic 

• Not an inspection – invited in as “critical 

friends” 

• Information is confidential and non-attributable 

• People interviewed provided a wide range of 

information and issues 

 D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 24



The Process 

• Self-evaluation 

• Document and data review 

• Review of EHCPs 

• Interviews and focus groups 

• Feedback presentation 

• Report 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 25



Themes 

• Leadership and Governance 

• Capacity and Managing Resources 

• Identification of children and young people who have 
special educational needs and/or disabilities 

• Assessing and meeting the needs of children and  
young people who have special educational needs 
and/or disabilities 

• Improving outcomes for children and young people 
who have special educational needs and/or 
disabilities 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 26



Key Lines of Enquiry identified by 

Trafford 

• Impact of COVID – 19 

• Quality of the SEND experience for children, 

young people, parents and carers 

• Transitions phases, particularly around 

Preparing for Adulthood 

• Voice of the Child 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 27



Leadership and Governance  

 Strengths (1) 

• Children are a priority for Trafford Council and 
political leadership is strong in this area 

• Sense of strategic ambition - proud of where you 
have come from and where you are going 

• Professionals are reflective and aware that there are 
still things to do to improve provision for children and 
young people with SEND but there is a real 
willingness to do so 

• There is an evidence and research base towards 
improvement and the JSNA can now inform strategic 
planning 
 

 
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 28



Leadership and Governance  

 Strengths (2) 

• Impressed with the motivation, positivity, optimism 
and commitment across the system and at all levels 
– it can be described as ‘thoughtful positivity’. 

• The Lead Members we saw were knowledgeable 
about SEND and the implications for their portfolios – 
Children’s Social Care, Education, Adults and Health 

• Scrutiny is sighted on SEND and has initiated a 
number of task and finish groups 

• Partnership working is increasingly productive with 
strong relationships evident across the system 

 

 
 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 29



Leadership and Governance 

 
Areas for Consideration (1) 

• There are numerous boards, committees, task and 

finish groups with an over emphasis on process  

• Ambition and strategy needs to be increasingly 

translated into consistent practice and provision 

development which leads to improved outcomes for 

children 

• There is a dissonance and disconnect between 

ambition, expectation and achievement from a 

parental perspective 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 30



Leadership and Governance 

 Areas for Consideration (2) 

• The proposed Integrated Care System (ICS) will 

provide new structures in health and social care. Is 

there sufficient focus on the potential risks 

associated with this organisational change? 

• Consistent strategic oversight of the implementation 

of the SEND action plan was not evident. Is there 

collective clarity and assurance about milestones, 

review points, resources, outcomes and impact? 

• Health data is not reported to the SEND Partnership 

Board  

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 31



Capacity and Managing Resources 

 Strengths (1) 

 

• Funding for SEND has been positive and responsive;  

schools and college have appreciated this 

• Succession planning is recognised as an issue 

• Co-location of services is seen as a real benefit as 

conversations can take place between partners 

around SEND issues  

• Joint commissioning arrangements currently working 

well 

 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 32



Capacity and Managing Resources 

 Strengths (2) 

 

• Successful Educational Psychology service has full 

‘buy-in’ from schools with strong leadership, enabling 

expansion of an impactful service 

• Investment in services, for example sensory services 

and early years is having a positive impact for 

children and families 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 33



Capacity and Managing Resources 

Areas for Consideration 

• Lack of connectivity between the utilisation of JSNA 

intelligence, the Medium Term Financial Plan and longer term 

strategic planning – how will you identify and allocate 

resources to meet projected future needs?  

• Financial Resources – growing numbers of EHCPs and 0-25 

provision creating pressures ahead 

• How do you currently deploy resources, develop capacity and 

commission cost effective services to meet all needs? 

• Is the Schools Forum on board and sighted on long-term 

pressures? 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 34



Capacity and Managing Resources 
Areas for Consideration (2) 

There are a number of risks associated with the successful 

delivery of the SEND Action Plan: 

• Ensuring the right allocation for Trafford in the proposed ICS 

arrangements 

• Single specialist posts across health and the local authority can be 

seen as both a single point of success but also a risk. Can you look 

across the system at other opportunities to meet the need?  

• School Nursing team is understaffed and there are recruitment issues 

• Is there capacity to support all the different boards, 

committees and task and finish groups? 

• There is an opportunity for the DCO purpose and function to 

reflect the spirit of the SEND Code of Practice as a navigator / 

orchestrator 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 35



Identification of children and young people who have 

special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 Strengths 

• Timeliness in meeting statutory timescales for EHCPs has 
improved 

• SENCOs were well regarded across all settings including the 
college 

• Comprehensive training offer to practitioners and partners 
which is valued 

• The PVI sector including childminders are complimentary of 
the support they get from SENAS 

• Graduated approach is understood, was co-produced and is 
starting to embed. The 0-5 version was well understood in the 
Early years sector. 

• 2 Year developmental assessments back up to 80% (pre-
COVID-19 90% with a drop to under 50% during COVID-19) 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 36



Identification of children and young people who have 

special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 Areas for Consideration 

• Updating of some plans is not timely and can lapse to 

become significantly inaccurate 

• Access to some services is a complicated process – it is not 

always clear who parents can contact 

• Is the single agency referral route to the TASC pathway 

creating an unnecessary bottleneck for children and families?  
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 37



Assessing and meeting the needs of children and  young 

people who have special educational needs and/or 

disabilities 

 

 

Strengths  

• Teaching school is a key part of the SEND system 

• The Sensory Services team is highly regarded by parents and 

for those who accessed these services, transition was 

positive 

• Parent/Carer Forum provides mutual support  

• Early years services and provision for children with SEND and 

their families is positive 

• Improved access to information and support for parents e.g. 

Local Offer, SENDIASS, training and workshops 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 38



Assessing and meeting the needs of children and  young 

people who have special educational needs and/or 

disabilities 

 

 
Areas for Consideration (1) 

• Social workers and the wider partnership needs to take more 
account of the needs of children with SEND in their 
assessments and plans 

• Some training was delivered to strategic social care leads 
prior to COVID-19 and should be resumed for the wider 
social care workforce 

• Some children have a range of plans – these need to be 
aligned and  integrated  

• Partnership colleagues contribute to plans but don’t always 
see the draft or final EHCP  

• Access to view and use Liquid Logic is an issue for some 
professionals 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 39



Assessing and meeting the needs of children and  young 

people who have special educational needs and/or 

disabilities 

 

 
Areas for Consideration (2) 

• Concern that the CAMHS service has not returned to face to 
face contact 

• Secondary provision is not seen as being as inclusive as 
primary by parents 

• Trafford Autism and Social Communication (TASC)  pathway 
is not working on a number of levels 

• Lengthy waiting times for access to Speech and Language 
therapy, support from CAMHS and Autism diagnosis 

• Co-production of the Inclusion Charter is a start and gives 
Trafford a vehicle to look at cultural competence and outline 
the entitlement of children, young people and their families 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 40



Assessing and meeting the needs of children and  young 

people who have special educational needs and/or 

disabilities 

 

 
Areas for Consideration (3) 

• Quality assurance processes need to be improved across 
the partnership. This should include both single and  multi-
agency audits. 

• Personal Budgets and Personal Health Budgets are not 
widely used – how well do parents know about this option for 
funding? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 41



Improving outcomes for children and young people who 

have special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 

 
Strengths 

• EYFS outcomes have improved by 10 percentage points for 
SEND children 

• Strong outcomes across KS1 and KS2 for children with 
SEND 

• Some positive examples of co-production were evident, for 
example Short Breaks statement, Inclusion Charter  

• Young people met during the peer challenge reported 
feeling well prepared for transition into education, 
employment and training 

• Work by the Council for Disabled Children and partners to 
develop a multi-agency outcomes framework provides a 
strong foundation for agreeing and using outcome 
measures consistently across the partnership 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 42



Improving outcomes for children and young people who 

have special educational needs and/or disabilities 

 

 
Areas for Consideration 

• Does the Inclusion Charter sufficiently promote a shared 
culture and practice across the partnership? 

• Focus is often on the actual plan production rather than the 
desired outcomes 

• Outcomes for children with SEND at KS4 are weaker than 
primary – some feedback questioned the inclusivity of the 
selective system 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 43



Impact of COVID - 19 

 

 

Strengths 

• There is much to learn, be proud of and build on in response 
to COVID-19.  

• Services accelerated changes to meet the needs of children 
and families with SEND. Examples included: 

–  on-line training for SENCOs  

– daily telephone calls to vulnerable families  

– multi-agency meetings to allow families to remain in contact with 
services  

– agencies attending more key meetings than pre-COVID-19  

– co-produced Q & A sessions for parents 

• Strategic and operational nimbleness to sustain services 
and keep individual children and families in view 

• Agile response to ensuring future viability of local health and 
care providers  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 44



Impact of COVID - 19 

 

 

 

Areas for Consideration 

• Potential for COVID-19 to impact on the wider determinants 
of health  

– Digital poverty 

– Impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities 

– Children’s emerging and unmet needs 

– Parental health and wellbeing 

– Increased referrals 

• Practitioners want to keep different ways of delivering 
services post-COVID-19 – do children, young people and 
parents agree? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 45



Quality of the SEND experience for 

children, young people, parents and carers 

 

 

Strengths 

• Young people seen were really positive about the support 
and challenge they received in school to do their best 

• Parents of children with sensory needs reported high levels 
of satisfaction around support for both their child and their 
family 

• Meetings are arranged after a decision is made not to 
assess or issue an EHCP, in order to explain the outcome, 
agree next steps and ensure that the SEN Support Plan is 
effective in meeting needs 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 46



Quality of the SEND experience for 

children, young people, parents and carers 

 

 

Areas for consideration 

• Hearing and responding to the lived experiences of children 
and their families - examples of good and bad experiences 

• Some parents and carers are not experiencing the impact 
and difference on the ground from SEND improvements 
particularly in SEMH and Autism.  

• Contribution of social care to planning, assessing and 
meeting need is under-developed 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 47



Transitions phases particularly Preparing 

for Adulthood 

 

 

Strengths 

• Emerging improvements around Preparing for 
Adulthood: 

– Young people we saw were confident about their 
transition and had good support from their schools, 
college and Sensory Services 

– Educational Psychology service and SENCOs use PFA 
outcomes as basis for their reports and reviews 

– Commitment to learning from practice and responsive to 
young people’s changing needs 

 

 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 48



Transitions phases particularly Preparing 

for Adulthood 

 

 

Areas for consideration (1) 

• Is there sufficient focus on the voice, views and lived 
experience of children and families at key transition points 
from 0-25? 

• Young people with less obvious needs (both SEN Support 
and EHCP) and who may have ASD or SEMH may not be 
getting appropriate support when compared to those with a 
more clearly defined need 

• This gap may be exacerbated by post-COVID-19 emerging 
or unassessed needs 

• Real concerns about transition from primary to secondary 
and from 14+ - words used by parents included ‘frightened’, 
‘fearful’, ‘terrified’ 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 49



Transitions phases particularly Preparing 

for Adulthood 

 

 

Areas for consideration (2) 

• Some families would benefit from support with transitions, 
particularly around preparing for adulthood and the 
changing relationship with their child 

• Supported internships may not be appropriate for those with 
less obvious needs and those with high functioning ASC as 
a pathway to employability  

• Inconsistent picture of adult health and care services 
involvement in supporting young people preparing for 
independence  

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 50



Voice of the child 

 

 

Strengths 

• Educational Psychologists reports are written in a child-
centred way 

• ‘Let’s Talk about SEND’ – agenda for second conference 
was co-created with children 

• Intentions captured through the multi-agency work on an 
outcomes framework provide a springboard for a consistent 
approach to hearing children's voices 

• Children supported by the Sensory Service are seen and 
heard, particularly during COVID-19 

• Involvement of children in their reviews has increased 
during COVID-19 

• Ambitions and strategies developed to assess the impact of 
interventions for children with complex needs 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 51



Voice of the child 

 

 
Areas for consideration 

 
Despite some individual pockets of good 
practice, the voice of the child is not 
consistently apparent or evidenced in 
practice 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 52



Summary Strengths 

• Passion and commitment at all levels across the 

partnership to improve the outcomes for children with 

SEND 

• Openness to learning from each other and external 

review 

• Maintaining a sharp focus on the needs of individual 

children during COVID-19 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 53



Summary areas for  consideration 

• Listen to and act upon the views of children  

• Learning from families lived experience is not yet 

consistently embedded across the system 

• Systems are not sufficiently developed to enable 

you to demonstrate the quality, consistency and 

impact for children and families 

• Take a longer term view on capacity and resourcing 

informed by the JSNA 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 54



Recommendations (1) 

 

 
• Galvanise the SEND Partnership Board to oversee the 

prompt translation of current ambitions and action plans into 

tangible impacts which make a difference for children and 

families 

• Use  the JSNA to ensure the medium and long term revenue 

and capital programmes are directly responsive to changing 

and emerging needs to achieve the ambition of children with 

SEND living, learning and growing up closer to home 

• Seize the opportunity for the DCO and DSCO to work 

together to provide a system overview of quality, 

effectiveness and impact to strategic leaders 

• Sharpen your focus on the risks and opportunities 

associated with organisational change relating to ICS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 55



Recommendations (2) 
Involve children and families at all stages: 

• Accelerate the review of ASC Pathway to ensure that less 
obvious needs are recognised and met 

• Agree and implement a system of capturing good practice 
and ensuring the ‘child is in the room’ across all agencies 

• Involve parents in the decisions about post-COVID-19 
service design and delivery 

• Establish a key worker/single point of contact and support for 
parents to navigate the SEND system on behalf of their child 

• Communicate clearly with children and families the provision 
and transition support available to them 0-25+ 

• Develop an employability pathway for those with less obvious 
needs and those with high functioning ASC where traditional 
supported internships are not appropriate 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 56



Recommendations (3) 

• Use the findings of the EHCP review as a starting 
point to establish and embed single and multi-
agency audits to improve the quality of EHCPs 

• Ensure that social care needs are recorded in 
EHCPs including Short Breaks provision 

• Identify and overcome barriers in IT systems to 
enable effective information sharing between 
professionals at both a strategic and operational 
level 

• A data dashboard highlighting key health metrics 
should be regularly reported to the SEND 
Partnership Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 57



What next ? 

• There is now a chance to reflect on our conclusions 

• We will produce a draft short report for the authority 

to comment on within 3 weeks 

• The final version will be agreed and issued 

• The council needs to provide feedback to people 

who contributed to the challenge 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 58



Questions? 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 59



Thank you 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 60



 

Page 1 of 15 

             

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trafford Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) 
Remote Peer Challenge 
 

25th – 28th May 2021 

 

 

Feedback Report  
 
  

Document Pack Page 61



 

Page 2 of 15 

 

1. Executive Summary  

There is a passion and commitment at all levels across the partnership to 
improve the outcomes for children with SEND. The Council has identified children 
as a corporate priority and Lead Members for Children’s Social Care, Education, 
Adult Social Care and Health and Wellbeing have a good understanding of SEND 
and what it means for their portfolios. Scrutiny is also taking an active role 
through initiating task and finish groups to look at specific aspects of SEND 
including Education, Health and Care Plans. 

There is a real sense of strategic ambition and pride about Trafford’s SEND 
journey and what is needed to improve outcomes for children, young people and 
their families. This now needs to be translated into improvement in practice and 
provision development with a strategic oversight on the improvement plan and 
key milestones and impact. Systems are not sufficiently developed to enable the 
local area to demonstrate the quality, consistency and impact for children and 
families. 

Professionals are reflective and know that there is still much to do but there is an 
openness to learning with and from each other, through listening and co-
production with local families and from external review. There are strong, 
professional relationships across the system, and this is increasingly producing 
positive partnership working. 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) will provide a good base to inform 
strategic planning and this should also be tied into longer term financial planning 
to identify and allocate resources to meet projected future need. 

Funding for SEND has been responsive with capital funding made available to 
provide some small, specialist classes. Local authority services appear to be well 
resourced particularly in early years and sensory impairment services. A 
rebalancing of resources may be needed as the profile of demand changes. 

The High Needs Block budget has been well managed but the deployment of 
future funding should be reviewed to consider and take account of changing 
needs and pressures alongside work with the Schools Forum to ensure schools 
are sighted on these challenges.  

The timeliness of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) has improved 
significantly over the past two years but the quality of the plans is variable, and it 
is often difficult to ‘see and hear’ the child in the plans. It is important that the 
views of children are listened to and acted upon both in terms of EHCPs but also 
wider service development. The contribution of social care and health is not 
always evident, and the introduction of multi-agency audits should improve this. A 
shift in emphasis from plan production to progression of desired outcomes is 
needed. 

Some local authority SEND services are particularly valued by children, young 
people and their parents and carers including the early years and sensory 
impaired services. There are, however, lengthy waiting lists for some health 
services including speech and language therapy, support from CAMHS and 
Autism diagnosis. The impact of COVID-19 has increased waiting times.  

Document Pack Page 62



 

Page 3 of 15 

There is a commitment to the Trafford Parent Carer Forum (TPCF) and there has 
been some co-production with the Inclusion Charter and question and answer 
sessions during COVID-19. Further work is required to promote the forum and to 
ensure that parents who are not part of the forum still have their voices heard. It 
is important that the local area learns from families lived experience which is not 
currently consistently embedded across the system. 

The local area’s response to COVID-19 ensured that services were sustained 
and children, young people and their families were kept in view through a range 
of measures. Many of the initiatives can be carried forward post-COVID-19 and 
there are plans to do this but it will be important to work with parents, carers, 
children and young people to ensure that if this way of working continues, it will 
meet their needs. 

2. Key recommendations 

There are a range of suggestions, observations and practical actions within the 
main section of the report that will inform both some ‘quicker wins’ , in addition to 
the conversations onsite, many of which provided ideas and examples of practice 
from other areas.. These will also contribute towards securing enduring change 
for children and young people with SEND and their families. The following are the 
peer team’s key recommendations to the Council and the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG): 

• Galvanise the SEND Partnership Board to oversee the prompt translation of 
current ambitions and action plans into tangible impacts which make a 
difference for children and families  

• Use the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to ensure the medium 
and long-term revenue and capital programmes are directly responsive to 
changing and emerging needs to achieve the ambition of children with SEND 
living, learning and growing up closer to home 

• Seize the opportunity for the Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) and 
Designated Social Care Officer (DSCO) to work together to provide a 
system overview of quality, effectiveness and impact to strategic leaders 

• Sharpen the focus across the local area, on the risks and opportunities 
associated with organisational change relating to the implementation of an 
integrated care system (ICS) to ensure that the resources for Trafford meet the 
needs of children and young people with SEND. In addition, ensure that the 
future organisational or administrative changes proposed, such as the transition 
of CCGs to ICS, take full account of the central importance of the leadership role 
of health partners in any multi-agency model affecting children and young people 
with SEND. 

• Accelerate the review of the Trafford Autism and Social Communication 
(TASC) Pathway to ensure that less obvious needs are recognised and met 

• Agree and implement a system of capturing good practice and ensuring 
the ‘child is in the room’ across all agencies and within all meetings, decision 
making and records 

• Involve parents and carers in the decisions about post-COVID-19 service 
design and delivery to ensure that it meets their specific needs 

Document Pack Page 63



 

Page 4 of 15 

• Establish a key worker/single point of contact and support for parents and 
carers to navigate the SEND system on behalf of their child 

• Communicate clearly with children and families describing the provision and 
transition support available to them 0-25+ 

• Develop an employability pathway for those with less obvious needs and 
those with high functioning ASC where traditional supported internships are not 
appropriate 

• Establish and embed single and multi-agency audits to improve the quality of 
EHCPs using the findings of the education, health and care plan (EHCP) review 
as a starting point  

• Ensure that social care needs are recorded in EHCPs including Short Breaks 
provision 

• Identify and overcome barriers in IT systems to enable effective information 
sharing between professionals at both a strategic and operational level 

• Ensure key health metrics are regularly reported to the SEND Partnership 
Board using the newly developed data dashboard  

 

3. Summary of the virtual peer challenge approach  

The fundamental aim of the peer challenge is to help councils and their partners 
reflect on the provision in the local area for children and young people with 
special educational needs and/or disabilities, in consideration of the Children’s 
and Families Act 2014 and the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Code 
of Practice 0-25 (2015). 

It is important to remember that a peer challenge is not an inspection; it provides 
a critical friend approach to challenge the council and their partners in assessing 
their strengths and identifying their own areas for improvement. The approach 
involved reviewing the self- evaluation, documentation and data; auditing a 
sample of education, health and care plans; carrying out virtual interviews via 
Teams with a range of groups and individuals including children, parents/carers, 
staff from early years settings, schools, college, primary health care providers, 
specialist health providers, elected members and  leaders from the local authority 
and CCG. As a result of COVID-19 and the associated travel restrictions, it was 
not possible for the peer challenge team to visit Trafford. Nonetheless, the use of 
virtual meetings enabled the team to effectively gather evidence from a wide 
range of partners. Trafford and its partners are encouraged to reflect on what the 
findings mean in relation to the area as a whole. 

The peer team  

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced peers. The make-up of the peer 
team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge. Peers 
were selected based on their relevant experience and expertise and their 
participation was agreed with you.  

The peers who delivered the peer challenge at Trafford were:  

• Lead Peer – Rose Durban, LGA Associate and former Director of Children’s 
Services 

Document Pack Page 64



 

Page 5 of 15 

• Education Peer – George Gilmore, LGA Associate, former special school 
Headteacher and SEND Adviser 

• Health Peer – Linda Williams, LGA Associate, former senior health manager 

• Local Authority Peer – Dr Jackie Lown, LGA Associate, former Assistant 
Director of Specialist Services 

• EHCP Reviewer – Richard Holland, LGA Associate 

• EHCP Reviewer – Tracey Newcomb, LGA Associate 

• Challenge Manager – Jill Scarr, LGA Programme Manager – Children’s 
Services 

The process  

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information to 
ensure they were familiar with the Council and its partners and the challenges it 
is facing.  The team then delivered four days of virtual field work during which 
they: 

• Spoke to more than 125 people including a range of council staff, Lead 
Members, headteachers, Special Educational Needs Coordinators 
(SENCOs), external partners, young people, parents, and carers.  

• Gathered information and views from more than 30 meetings and 
through additional research and reading. 

• Collectively spent more than 190 hours to determine their findings – the 
equivalent of one person spending more than 5 weeks in Trafford. 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. It builds on the 
feedback presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their fieldwork on 
2 June 2021. By its nature, the peer challenge is a snapshot in time. We 
appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you are already 
addressing and progressing. 

4. Scope and Focus 

The peer challenge focused on five key themes. The report includes the good 
practice we heard about and areas which you might want to consider further.  

Themes: 

• Leadership and governance of SEND across the local area 

• Capacity and resources (including finance) 

• The identification of children and young people who have special 
educational needs and/or disabilities 

• Assessing and meeting the needs of children and young people who have 
special educational needs and/or disabilities 

• Improving outcomes for children & young people who have special 
educational needs and/or disabilities 

 

In addition, Trafford identified a further four Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) 

• Response to COVID-19 

Document Pack Page 65



 

Page 6 of 15 

• Quality of the SEND experience for children, young people, parents and 
carers 

• Transitions Phases (particularly around Preparing for Adulthood) 

• Voice of the Child 

5. Main Findings 

5.1. Leadership and governance of SEND across the local area 

It was evident that children are a priority for Trafford Council and political 
leadership is strong in this area. One of the corporate priorities is that ‘all children 
and young people in Trafford will have a fair start’. 

The Lead Members the peer challenge team spoke to are knowledgeable about 
SEND and the implications for their portfolios – Children’s Social Care, 
Education, Adults and Health. Comments from Lead Members about SEND 
services in Trafford included “we want be famous for the service we give for 
SEND” and “Clarity, easy process and best in class” showing a real commitment 
to children with SEND. Scrutiny is sighted on SEND and has initiated a number of 
task and finish groups including assessments and EHCPs and exclusions. 

There is a sense of strategic ambition, and a feeling of pride about where Trafford 
has come from and where it is going in relation to children and young people with 
SEND. The motivation, optimism and commitment across the system and at all 
levels was impressive - it can be described as ‘thoughtful positivity’. Professionals 
are reflective and aware that there are still things to do to improve practice and 
provision for children and young people with SEND but there is a real willingness 
to do so. 

However, ambition and strategy need to be increasingly translated into consistent 
practice and provision development which leads to improved outcomes for 
children and young people. There is currently a dissonance and disconnect 
between ambition, expectation and achievement from a parental perspective as 
some of those we spoke with are unable to see improvements in the SEND 
provision they are experiencing.  

There is not a consistent strategic oversight of the implementation of the SEND 
improvement action plan which would provide collective clarity and assurance 
about milestones, review points, resources, outcomes and impact of the 
ambitions.  

Partnership working is increasingly productive with strong relationships evident 
across the system. 

Recent changes to the leadership of the Special Educational Needs and 
Disability Information, Advice and Support Service (SENDIASS) has led to 
improved communication with the local authority and the provision of detailed 
performance data from SENDIASS will help inform strategic decisions. 

The numerous boards, committees and task and finish groups which include the 
SEND Partnership Board, Transitions Board, Directors Board and the 
Communication and Engagement Group have led to an over emphasis on 
process. There may be some potential to streamline the various groups. Many of 
the SEND professionals from partner agencies will attend several of these groups 

Document Pack Page 66



 

Page 7 of 15 

and it raises the question of capacity to support all these different groups at the 
expense of delivering and tracking the impact of the improvements. 

There is an evidence and research base towards improvement and the Joint 
Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) can now inform strategic planning. 

The proposed Integrated Care System (ICS) will provide new structures in health 
and social care and with this comes both opportunity and risk. It is not clear if 
there is sufficient focus on the potential risks associated with this organisational 
change and how this will impact on key roles, particularly in health and the 
strategic oversight of SEND provision. 

Health data is currently not reported to the SEND Partnership Board making it 
difficult to ascertain how health provision is performing. It is understood that this 
is partly due to the recent change of provider from Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust to Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust. A dashboard 
of health indicators is nearing completion and this should be reported to the 
SEND Partnership Board at the earliest opportunity. 

5.2. Capacity and resources  

The funding for SEND has been positive and responsive; schools and Trafford 
College have appreciated this. When a clear case has been put forward, schools 
have received capital funding to develop local SEND provision including small, 
specialist classes. Where specific equipment has been required for individual 
students it has been provided. 

There is currently a lack of connectivity between the utilisation of JSNA 
intelligence, the Medium Term Financial Plan and longer term strategic planning. 
It will be important to identify and allocate resources to meet projected future 
needs. The Council will need to ensure that, as the number of children and young 
people with an EHCP increases and the profile of their special educational needs 
changes, resources are effectively deployed to meet the ambition of ‘closer to 
home’ for Trafford children. 

The local authority SEND services appear to be well resourced and are currently 
having a positive impact for some children and families. This is particularly the 
case for sensory and early years services. Looking forward, the use of current 
resources should be analysed and prioritised to best match demand. An 
important priority is for strategic partners to consider how capacity can be 
developed in the system and cost effective services commissioned to meet needs 
so all children and families consistently experience a positive impact. 

There is a successful Educational Psychology Service which has full ‘buy-in’ from 
schools with strong leadership, enabling the expansion of an impactful service. 

The High Needs Block budget has been well managed but it is now at a position 
where future funding needs to be reviewed. Council reserves have been used to 
balance overspends but this is not sustainable going forward. There is a positive 
relationship with the Schools Forum and it will be important to work with this 
group to ensure that it is fully sighted on long-term pressures and how they will 
be funded. The work of the High Needs Block Sub-Group needs to be 
accelerated to enable schools to be part of producing the ‘preferred future 
scenarios’ for SEND. 

Document Pack Page 67



 

Page 8 of 15 

Succession planning is recognised as an issue and in the Educational 
Psychology Service, there is a strong culture and ethos built by the Principal 
Educational Psychologist which will “see us through when she leaves”. However, 
critical and impactful though this service is, achieving the sustained and 
integrated improvements at the necessary scale and pace for children and young 
people with SEND and their families, requires a broad and systemic view of 
capacity and capability. 

There are several single specialist posts across health and the local authority, 
and these can be seen as both a single point of success but also a risk. This 
includes both the DCO post and the proposed DCSO post. It will be important to 
look across the system at other opportunities to meet organisational capacity to 
cover for absence either through vacancies or sickness and secure consistent 
and cumulative improvements that match the ambitions and strategic intent of the 
partnership.  

The co-location of local authority and health services is seen as a real benefit in 
supporting partnership working with effective matrix management in place. Staff 
valued the opportunity to talk to colleagues, network, share practice and quickly 
resolve issues and identify solutions as a result of co-location. 

The joint commissioning arrangements are currently working well, and it is hoped 
that with the proposed ICS there will be opportunities for more pooled budgets. 
The Commissioning Board in Trafford is seen as a real asset. However, as 
demand is increasing and with more pressure on resources, there is a question of 
whether joint commissioning includes enough focus on value for money analysis 
across all need types. 

The peer challenge team identified some risks associated with the successful 
delivery of the SEND Action Plan: 

• Ensuring the right financial allocation for Trafford in the proposed ICS 
arrangements. It is important to Trafford that services are delivered on a 
locality basis and there are concerns that a Greater Manchester approach 
may dilute the shared view between system partners of local needs and 
the resources available to meet these. 

• The School Nursing team is understaffed and there are recruitment issues 
which results in only being able to offer a basic level of service. This is not 
unique to Trafford and is a challenge in other areas. 

With the proposed recruitment of a new Designated Clinical Officer there is an 
opportunity for this role’s purpose and function to reflect the spirit of the SEND 
Code of Practice and act as a navigator which can look across SEND health 
services, identify issues and orchestrate resolution. 

5.3. Identification of children and young people who have special educational 
needs and/or disabilities 

The timeliness in meeting statutory timescales for EHCPs has improved from 
60.2% in 2019 to 81.2% in 2020. However, the updating of some plans is not 
timely and can lapse so that plans become significantly inaccurate. There were 
examples from parents of a placement being lost due to the plan not being 
updated, and the local authority not knowing when an individual had reached 18. 
Parents reported concerns about the quality of EHCPs with missing information 

Document Pack Page 68



 

Page 9 of 15 

being cited as the main problem as well as lengthy advice being included. This 
raises a question whether the aim of meeting the statutory timescales is 
impacting on quality. 

SENCOs are well regarded across all settings including the college and they felt 
valued and well supported. SENCOs are involved in decisions of the Trafford 
Assessment Panel (TAP) and discussions to changes in the annual review 
system. There is a comprehensive training offer to practitioners and partners and 
there was a range of training offered during COVID-19 from Occupational 
Therapists, Educational Psychologists and other professionals. All training is 
valued, and SENCOs have been able to contribute their expertise to this training. 
The Parent Carer Forum appreciated being involved in co-producing a remote 
support offer for parents. There is now an opportunity to consider the 
effectiveness of a blended approach to continuous professional development in 
the future. 

Access to some services is a complicated process and it is not always clear who 
parents can contact. Many of the parents that spoke to the peer team said that 
they were left to navigate the system on behalf of their child, sometimes not 
knowing what provision was available, who to contact or where to go. The council 
may want to consider whether the introduction of support from a key worker or 
named professional, such as the SENCO, may help parents. 

The Private, Voluntary and Independent sector including childminders are 
complimentary about  the support they get from the Special Educational Needs 
Advisory Service (SENAS). Early years services and provision for children with 
SEND and their families is seen as positive.  

The local authority’s Graduated Approach which includes an effective 0-5 early 
years version, was co-produced with settings and is used well by SENCOs. The 
local authority’s assessment panel use the Graduated Approach to check 
whether effective support has been provided before a child or young person is 
considered for an education, health and care plan. 

In terms of the Healthy Child Programme, 2-year-old developmental assessments 
are back up to 80%. Pre-COVID-19 assessments were at 90% with a drop to 
under 50% during the peak of the pandemic. 

5.4. Assessing and meeting the needs of children and young people with 
special educational needs and/or disabilities 

The Trafford Teaching School Alliance (TTSA) is a key partner in the SEND 
system. Building upon the expertise in local primary and special schools, the 
alliance provides a range of continuing professional development courses to 
enhance teacher effectiveness in supporting children and young people with 
SEND. 

Social Workers and the wider partnership need to take more account of the 
needs of children with SEND in their assessments and plans. It is important that 
all partners understand that a child’s lived experience is about their whole life and 
not just the particular aspect of a professional’s input. 

The review of education, health and care plans identified that, where the social 
care service was involved, the emphasis was on recording the status of the child 
e.g. ‘child in need’, ‘child protection’, ‘looked after’ rather than describing the 

Document Pack Page 69



 

Page 10 of 15 

child’s social care need. In good educational psychology reports the social care 
and family history was well understood but unfortunately not reported in the plan. 
Additionally, not all social care information is recorded in the EHCP including 
information about short breaks. 

Health needs in the EHCPs were framed in general terms and some of the 
reports from health partners contained very little information. 

Understandably the initial focus has been on improving the timeliness of EHCPs 
but plans reviewed highlighted that there is often an undue focus on the actual 
plan production. This now needs to shift to encompass an increased emphasis on 
the desired outcomes which provide a very clear picture of what is to be achieved 
and by whom. 

Some training around SEND awareness was delivered to strategic social care 
leaders prior to COVID-19, this should now be resumed and provided for the 
wider social care workforce. Repeated training on a rolling basis would 
encompass staff changes and agency staff. 

The local authority has identified the need for a Designated Social Care Officer 
who will provide strategic oversight of the care needs of young people with SEND 
and support preparation for adulthood. This follows a service redesign in 
Children’s Social Care. There is a great opportunity for this post-holder to form a 
strong integrated approach with the DCO and impact on the system by working 
together, providing, embedding and monitoring a quality assurance framework 
across SEND in Trafford. 

The Trafford Sensory Impairment Service is highly regarded by parents and for 
those who accessed these services, transition was positive 

Trafford Parent Carer Forum (TPCF) provides mutual support and the Stronger 
Together Empowering Parents (STEP) programme provides emotional and 
practical support from a team of volunteers and is seen as positive by parents.  

The local authority are committed to the co-production of services with parents 
and are working closely with the Parent Carer Forum to co-design services and 
provision. The chair of the forum is a member of the SEND Partnership Board. 
However, not all parents of children with SEND know about the forum and some 
work could be done to publicise the group more widely. Similarly, it will be 
important for Trafford to capture the voices and experiences of those families 
who choose not to engage with the forum. 

A visioning day was held with Trafford Parent and Carer Forum resulting in the 
co-production of the Inclusion Charter. The Charter is a starting point and gives 
Trafford a vehicle to look at cultural competence1 and outline the entitlement of 
children, young people and their families. 

 

 

1 Cultural competence is the ability to understand, appreciate and interact with people from 
cultures or belief systems different from one's own 

Document Pack Page 70



 

Page 11 of 15 

There has been improved access to information and support for parents e.g., 
Local Offer, SENDIASS and the training and workshops run during COVID-19 
were well received and welcomed. 

For some children a range of plans are needed and produced including Personal 
Education Plans, EHCPs, Child in Need and Child Protection plans. To make it 
clearer to children and families these plans would benefit from being aligned and 
integrated.  

Partners who are contributors to plans reported that they do not always see the 
draft or final EHCP. This makes it difficult to see how the information provided 
has influenced the final plan. There are also difficulties with access to view and 
use Liquid Logic and this was mentioned by SENCOs and other professionals. 

There are concerns that the CAMHS service has not returned to face to face 
contact since the start of the pandemic. The current and planned CAMHS 
provision needs clearer communication to parents and carers as well as taking 
into account increased demand for the service from children and young people, 
and their parents following COVID-19.  

There are lengthy waiting times for Speech and Language Therapy, support from 
CAMHS and Autism diagnosis and although progress was made prior to the 
pandemic in reducing waiting times, COVID-19 has meant that the numbers on 
waiting lists are rising. 

Parents and governors spoken with expressed their concern that secondary 
provision is not seen as being as inclusive as primary. The peer challenge team 
heard concerns that a narrow focus on national performance table metrics 
discouraged some secondary schools from being fully inclusive. Mention was 
made of little inclusive resource provision within selective school buildings. The 
Inclusion Charter provides a vehicle for all Trafford schools to highlight and 
promote their work in being both inclusive and improving in their culture, practice 
and provision and demonstrate their explicit ambition and contribution to meeting 
the needs of all local children. 

The Trafford Autism and Social Communication (TASC) pathway is not working 
on a number of levels. Referrals have to be made by SENCOs and where issues 
are related to home life, it is difficult for SENCOs to evidence this. Some 
clinicians are also not aware of the referral process and are advising parents to 
make a referral. Because of this single agency referral route to the TASC 
pathway it appears that this may be creating an unnecessary bottleneck for 
children and families. 

The review of EHCPs showed that quality assurance processes need to be 
improved across the partnership. Although work has started on quality assurance 
this is not yet reflected consistently in some plans. Going forward, the quality 
assurance process should include both single and multi-agency audits. The 
current quality assurance process only involves the EHCP team, there is no 
quality assurance of plans by Health. 

Personal Budgets and Personal Health Budgets are not widely used which could 
indicate that parents do not generally know about this option for funding. This has 
been acknowledged and it has recently been agreed to appoint a Personal Health 
Budget Lead in the Continuing Health Care Team. It would be beneficial if a 
similar approach is taken by the local authority to Personal Budgets. 

Document Pack Page 71



 

Page 12 of 15 

5.5. Improving outcomes for children and young people with special 
educational needs and/or disabilities 

In the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) outcomes have improved for 
children with SEND with 26% achieving a Good Level of Development in 2019, 
placing Trafford just above the national average. This is an improvement on 
previous years.  

There have been strong outcomes across KS1 and KS2 for children with SEND. 
However, outcomes for children with SEND at KS4 are weaker than primary and 
some feedback questioned the impact of the selective system in Trafford. 
Progress 8 results are significantly below geographical and statistical neighbours 
and there needs to be a way of disaggregating the selective school figures to 
ascertain if this is the case. In addition, the local authority should consider other 
achievement measures that could be used to assess the outcomes for children at 
the end of KS4. 

Short breaks data is seen as good by commissioners and is used to inform 
commissioning. Quality data is collated through unannounced visits, regular 
quality inspections using the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Key Lines of 
Enquiry and this is used to inform improvement plans within providers. There are 
plans to ask providers to secure joint registration with Ofsted and CQC to 
increase accessibility and flexibility of provision. 

There are some positive examples of co-production, for example the Short 
Breaks statement and Inclusion Charter but there is still more to do to ensure true 
co-production across all aspects of SEND. 

The Inclusion Charter is a positive step forward but it also needs to promote a 
shared culture, practice and the lived experience across the partnership. 

The young people met during the peer challenge reported feeling well prepared 
for transition into education, employment and training. This was due to the 
support they had from their school and in the groups the team met, the impact of 
their SENCO and from the Trafford Sensory Impairment Support Services were 
particularly highlighted.  

Work by the Council for Disabled Children and partners to develop a multi-
agency outcomes framework provides a strong foundation for agreeing and using 
outcome measures consistently across the partnership. Although this initial work 
has been done it needs to be used so outcomes are visible in the lived 
experiences of children and families. 

. 

5.6. Impact of COVID-19 

There is much to learn, be proud of and build on in the local area’s response to 
COVID-19. Services accelerated changes to meet the needs of children and 
families with SEND. Examples included: 

• on-line training for SENCOs and early years staff, 

• daily telephone calls to vulnerable families, 

• multi-agency meetings to allow families to remain in contact with services,  

• agencies attending more key meetings virtually than pre-COVID-19,  

Document Pack Page 72



 

Page 13 of 15 

• co-produced on-line question and answer sessions for parents 

• wellbeing programme for children and young people returning to school 
after lockdown 

• online speech and language courses 

Strategic and operational nimbleness to sustain services and keep individual 
children and families in view was a particular strength. 

The local authority provided an agile response to ensure the future viability of 
local health and care providers by making payments for service activity based on 
planning rather than actual and by quickly passporting additional government 
funding to sustain provision. 

There is the potential for COVID-19 to impact on the wider determinants of health 
including:  

• digital poverty 

• impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities 

• children’s emerging and unmet needs  

• parental health and wellbeing 

• increased referrals into services 

Work has begun on surge planning in mental health services and the partnership 
needs to be mindful of other pressure points going forward. 

Practitioners want to keep some of the different ways of delivering services 
developed during COVID-19 going forward as they are seen to have worked well. 
It will be important to seek the views of children, young people and parents to 
establish whether and how this is acceptable to them. 

5.7. Quality of the SEND experience for children, young people, parents and 
carers 

The young people the peer team spoke to were positive about the support and 
challenge they received in school to do their best.  

Parents of children with sensory needs reported high levels of satisfaction around 
support for both their child and their family 

Meetings are now arranged after a decision is made not to assess or issue an 
EHCP, in order to explain the outcome, agree next steps and ensure that the 
SEN Support Plan is effective in meeting needs. This is seen as a positive step 
and provides parents with some support at a difficult time. 

The partnership needs to seek, hear and respond to the lived experiences of 
children and their families. The peer challenge team heard of good and poor  
experiences, some historical but also more recent cases. The stories were 
emotive and it is clear that parents strive to get the best possible outcomes for 
their child. 

Some parents and carers are not experiencing the impact and difference on the 
ground from SEND improvements particularly for children and young people with 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs (SEMH), and those with Autism.  
Parents reported lengthy waiting times, a lack of clarity about pathways and 
provision for children with multiple needs and for those children with an uncertain 

Document Pack Page 73



 

Page 14 of 15 

diagnosis of need. The impact of COVID-19 has intensified needs in a number of 
cases. 

There does not appear to be a systematic way of capturing feedback from 
children, young people and their families and this applies to both the local 
authority and health services. Individual services do seek feedback but it is often 
ad-hoc and it is not clear if there are any mechanisms to bring feedback from 
these services to a multi-agency group to look at learning and focus on the 
experiences of the child, young person and their family. This includes follow-up to 
parental contributions to EHCPs. 

5.8. Transitions Phases (particularly around Preparing for Adulthood) 

There are several emerging improvements around Preparing for Adulthood. 

• young people the peer team met were confident about their transition, they 
spoke about the support from their schools, college or the Sensory 
Impairment Service 

• Transitions Board has been refreshed with new terms of reference and a 
new Chair. It is too early to see the impact of these changes but there are 
plans to have a number of committees that sit beneath this board. 

• Educational Psychologists and SENCOs are using Preparing for 
Adulthood outcomes as the basis for their reports and reviews. 

• there is a commitment to learning from practice and being responsive to 
young people’s changing needs 

However, there is limited evidence that there is sufficient focus on the voice, 
views and lived experience of children and families at key transition points from 
0-25. There are real concerns from parents about transition from primary to 
secondary and from 14+ - words used included ‘frightened’, ‘fearful’, ‘terrified’.  

EHCPs reviewed showed the default position as being ‘to be considered from 
Year 6 onwards’ for those transferring from primary to secondary. In some plans 
it was noted that the transition would be difficult. It is suggested that for some 
children planning needs to start in Year 5. 

Young people with less obvious needs (both for those at SEN Support and with 
an EHCP) and who may have ASD or SEMH may not be getting appropriate 
support when compared to those with a more clearly identified need. It appears 
that this is easier for those transitioning to adult health services who have a clear 
medical need or learning disability. This gap may be exacerbated by post-
COVID-19 emerging or unassessed needs. 

Some families would benefit from support around transitions, particularly around 
preparing for adulthood and the changing relationship with their child. For many 
they have been the child’s principal advocate and the change to a world where 
their child has an independent voice may be a particular challenge. 

Supported Internships are used for some young people, though the range 
available could be extended to better meet the needs of those with less obvious 
needs and those with high functioning ASD as a pathway to employability.  

There is an inconsistent picture of adult health and care services involvement in 
supporting young people preparing for independence and that these services are 
not being involved soon enough. In some cases, involvement only began at 16. 

Document Pack Page 74



 

Page 15 of 15 

5.9. Voice of the Child 

The EHCP reviewers found that the reports produced by Educational 
Psychologists are written in a child-centred way. 

The ‘Let’s Talk about SEND’ Conference in 2019 resulted in the agenda for the 
second conference being co-created with children and young people. 

Intentions captured through the multi-agency work on an outcomes framework 
provide a springboard for a consistent approach to hearing children's voices as it 
provides examples of how children and young people’s voices can be heard.  

The involvement of children and young people in their reviews has increased 
during COVID-19 as a result of being carried out virtually and after seeking the 
views of children and their families could be carried on going forward. 

The LGA EHCP Reviewers looked at 20 EHCPs. The views and aspirations of 
children and young people were all included on the request for EHC assessment 
form, however, they tended to be a set of single line statements. These provided 
some useful insight but did not ‘bring the child to life’. This is an important section 
to ‘highlight’ the child. It also was not clear from the plans whether anyone 
followed these up in detail with the young person.  

The Trafford Self-assessment specifically mentions capturing the voice of the 
child and young person: 

 ‘Of the 290 plans issued this year, 101 (34%) were evaluated using this QA 
framework. Analysis from the data indicates good practice in eliciting the voice 
of the child and young person - 93% were judged to have clearly represented 
this in the plan and 92% for the voice of the parent/carer.’  

Although the views and aspirations of the child are captured, the reflections of the 
reviewers are that it will be useful to triangulate the levels of quality identified 
through the QA process, alongside the feedback of young people and their 
parents. In many areas where this has been done, for example using the POET 
tool (https://in-control.org.uk/resources/poet-personal-outcomes-evaluation-tool/)  
both young people and parents record lower levels of satisfaction. 

Despite some individual pockets of good practice, the voice of the child is not 
consistently apparent or evidenced in practice across the partnership. 

6. Next Steps 

The Local Government Association would be happy to discuss how we could help 
you further through the LGA’s Principal Adviser Claire Hogan, telephone 07766 
250347 or e-mail Claire.Hogan@local.gov.uk and Linda Clegg, the Children’s 
Improvement Adviser, telephone 07545 787882 or e-mail 
Lindaclegg0@gmail.com 

Thank you to everyone involved for their participation. Please pass on thanks 
from the peer challenge team to Joanne Moore and Jenny Hess, for help prior to 
the peer challenge and during the fieldwork phase and the young people who 
participated in the focus groups. 

Document Pack Page 75

https://in-control.org.uk/resources/poet-personal-outcomes-evaluation-tool/


This page is intentionally left blank



TRAFFORD
INCLUSION
CHARTER

Document Pack Page 77



Definition of Inclusion
Our definition of Inclusion is intentionally broad 
so that it reaches all children and young people 
in our schools.

In Trafford we believe that our Inclusive ethos 
will promote equal opportunities for all children 
and young people, whatever their age, gender, 
sexuality, disability, ethnicity, attainment and 
background. We recognise that we need to 
be mindful of the provision made for each 
individual child and young person so that they 
are able to achieve their best outcomes. 

In this pack you will receive;
• The Trafford definition of inclusion
• The 5 principles of the Trafford Inclusion Charter
• A ‘we will’ so ‘you can’ set of statements
• A commitment agreement as part of the sign up process
• A set of resources and links to support ongoing reflective practice on 

how inclusion is developing in your setting

Document Pack Page 78



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

We are delighted to announce the launch of Trafford’s Inclusion Charter 
for all schools and settings in the Local Authority. 

We are also very proud of how this charter was developed. In September 
2019 we held an Inclusion visioning event with parents, carers, head 
teachers, SENCOs and a wide range of Local Authority officers and we 
were able to share our ambitions for inclusive practice in Trafford. The 
five principles that make up the charter are drawn directly form the 
words that we used to describe how we would like inclusive practice to 
look in our schools and settings.

The Process

Co-production
Collaboration
Consultation

Trafford 
Visioning

 Day

Trafford 
Education

Board

TIC
Working

Group

Head
Teachers’

Conference

Emerged form SEND 
Visioning day - held 
with Trafford Parent 
Carer Forum, School 
staff and LA officers.

Re setting of key 
pricipals and 
articulation of 
ethos.

Co produced activities 
to set a positive SEND 
vision.

Document Pack Page 79



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Trafford Inclusion Charter 
5 Principles
Our five Trafford Inclusion Charter principles were developed from the 
conversations started at the visioning day and continued with parents 
and professions during a series of developmental meetings.

They are ….

Local schools and educational settings in Trafford are committed 
to meeting the needs of children and young people in their local 
community.

Outcomes - are child centred, measurable and achievable. 

Communication is regular, clear and appropriate. 

We are all Accountable and responsible for supporting inclusion in 
Trafford.

We are mindful of how we use Language to include, describe and 
involve all.

Document Pack Page 80



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Local 
Provision

We Will Ensure

Acess for all to a full, 
broad, balanced 
and appropriate 
curriculum.

We will work with 
you to ansure 
that provision 
can be flexible to 
meet individual 
need through 
consultation and 
collaboration with 
you.

So You

Are fully engaged 
in all meaningful 
and purposeful 
experiences as a 
valued memeber 
of our learning 
communities.

We Will...
So You...

Outcomes

We Will

Work with you 
to identify your 
strengths and 
agree with you 
what you want to 
change.

So You Are

Confident that 
the outcomes and 
provision agreed 
are focused on 
what you want to 
achieve.

Comms

We will 
ensure our 
communications 
are

• Two Way
• Regular
• Honest
• Consistent
• Timely

So You

Know that your 
views are valued 
and central to 
decisions that are 
made with you.

Accountable

We Will Ensure 
that in our work

We are fair, 
accountable and 
responsible.

We will look to 
how we can add 
value and work in 
a solution focused 
and courageous 
manner.

So You Feel

• Safe
• Protected
• Treated Fairly
• Respected
• Supported & 

Considered

Language

We Will

Ensure that the 
language we use 
to communicate 
with you is clear, 
simple and 
accesible

So You Can

Feel empowered 
and included 
when we have 
discussions with 
you, about how 
best to support 
you. 

Document Pack Page 81



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Commitment statement 
By signing up to Trafford’s Inclusion Charter we are committed to 
delivering on the 5 key principles in our work.

We understand that to develop our inclusive practice it is essential to 
evaluate and reflect on how we work in schools.

As part of our commitment to the Charter we will ensure that this 
reflection and evaluation is carried out on an annual basis by relevant 
staff in school. Our school will be outward facing; working in partnership 
with members of our wider school community and collaborating with 
other schools in a school-school support system with guidance and 
support from Local Authority colleagues.  

Document Pack Page 82



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Recommended Evaluation Resources
As inclusion is a dynamic process not a fixed state schools will be developing, sharing and evaluating their 
good practice Inclusion is wider than SEND as demonstrated by our definition of Inclusion. The resources 
below are focussed mainly on SEND but this recommended list will be reviewed and added to for different 
areas of inclusive practice.

Whole School SEND (WSS) is a consortium of SEND focussed organisations including NASEN and Contact (a 
Family), schools. Since the last SEND reforms  DfE funding has enabled the production of a range of free SEND 
review guides.

The suite of SEND review guides includes: 
• SEND Review Guide • Effective SENCo Deployment Guide • Demonstrating Inclusion Tool • Preparing 
for Adulthood from the Earliest Years Review Guide • SEND Reflection Framework • Teaching Assistant 
Deployment Review Guide • MAT SEND Review Guide • Early Years SEND Review Guide • SEND Governance 
Review Guide

In this first year of the TIC we are promoting the core SEND Review document -shared at the SENCO Forum 

The intention is for SEND reviews to act as a catalyst for driving change and improving provision, so it is 
common for reviews to lead to an action plan. 

The DfE has funded a contract to support school workforce development leading to free online training as a 
SEND Reviewer with REAL training-see SEND Gateway.  The LA can pair up your school with a partner school 
to trial a review as part of this training. Full reviews from an experienced reviewer can be commissioned 
through the TTSA CPD booklet.

The Demonstrating Inclusion Tool is for leadership teams to use and is also based on SEND 
https://www.sendgateway.org.uk/resources/demonstrating-inclusion-tool
Schools may want to consider looking at as aspect of inclusive practice as a line of enquiry through the 
School’s Partnership Programme (SPP).

Other useful resources 
Trafford Dyslexia Quality Mark-Contact Julia.Brown@trafford.gov.uk

Equality Duty Guidance for Schools in England (equalityhumanrights.com)

reasonable_adjustments_for_disabled_pupils_1.pdf (equalityhumanrights.com)

The Rights Respecting Schools Award | UNICEF UK  (There is a cost to this Award)

Document Pack Page 83



Tel: 0161 912 4080 | Email: info@trafford.gov.uk | Web: www.trafford.gov.uk | Twitter: @traffordcouncil | Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Document Pack Page 84



Tel: 0161 912 4080 
Email: info@trafford.gov.uk 
Web: www.trafford.gov.uk
Twitter: @traffordcouncil

Facebook: /traffordcouncil

Document Pack Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	2021.07.06 CYPS Draft Minutes

	7 TRAFFORD COUNCIL SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) PEER CHALLENGE
	Appendix 1 Trafford SEND Remote Peer Diagnostic_
	Appendix 1 Full Report
	Appendix 3 InclusionCharter


